# Appendix 1 – Capital Strategy 2024/25

February 2024

# Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Context
- 3. Approach to Capital Investments
- 4. Asset Management Planning
- 5. Capital Programme (2024/25 2028/29)
- 6. Financing the Capital Programme
- 7. Governance
- 8. Risk Management
- 9. Treasury Management
- 10. Action Plan
- Annex A Schedule of Properties Available for Disposal
- Annex B Capital Programme Board Terms of Reference (ToR)
- Annex C Action Plan

## 1. Introduction

- 1.1. The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (2021), published by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), requires each Local Authority to produce a Capital Strategy on an annual basis. This Capital Strategy document is aimed at meeting those requirements.
- 1.2. As well as meeting the requirements of the Prudential Code, this Strategy also has regard to the statutory guidance on Local Government Investments issued by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) in February 2018. The purpose of the statutory guidance and the Prudential Code is to ensure that capital investments made by Local Authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable.
- 1.3. Under the legislative framework the Capital Strategy is one of a suite of four linked strategies, the others being: The Annual Investment Strategy, the Treasury Management Strategy and the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy.
- 1.4. In practice the main purpose of the Capital Strategy is to define how Reading Borough Council will maximise the impact of its limited capital resources to support the delivery of its key aims and objectives.

## 2. Context

- 2.1. The Council's Capital Strategy provides an overview of where and how the Council intends to deploy its capital resources to support delivery of its strategic aims as set out in the Corporate Plan (2022-2025). The Capital Strategy will help shape Reading's future and facilitate the delivery of the Council's agreed Corporate Plan themes, which are:
  - Healthy Environment;
  - Thriving Communities; and
  - Inclusive Economy.
- 2.2. The Capital Strategy also needs to be read in conjunction with other strategic documents such as the Medium-Term Financial Strategy, the Council's Asset Management Plans, Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and the Commercial Investment Strategy.

#### **Demographic Changes**

- 2.3. Demographic growth is one of the key drivers of demand for Council services and consequently cost pressures. Whilst general central government funding has seen real terms decreases over the last decade, service demand and demographic pressures have risen.
- 2.4. According to the Office of National Statistics' latest census in 2021, since 2011 Reading's total population has risen by 11.9% to 174,200, one of the highest percentage increases in the South East. However, its demographic composition has changed, shifting towards an older population, with increases of 17.2% of residents aged 65+, 11.7% aged 15-64, and 8.6% aged under 15, which includes a decrease of 14.2% in the 0-4 age category.
- 2.5. Whilst the Government have now removed specific housing targets, revision to guidance in December 2020 has shifted the emphasis from greenfield sites to

brownfield sites in major urban areas, including the repurposing of shops and offices. This may have an impact on the centre of Reading which has a large office footprint, particularly post Covid depending on people's ability and preference to work from home.

2.6. The Elizabeth Line (Cross Rail) opened in November 2022 with its western terminus in Reading. It remains to be seen what the impact is on the number of people commuting into or out of Reading and the knock-on impact on supporting infrastructure requirements.

## **Technological Changes**

- 2.7. The pace of change in technological advancement gets ever faster, with the crisis caused by the Covid-19 Pandemic having pushed things on even faster in some cases. The Council is already changing the way it uses its office space and how it delivers its service to the public.
- 2.8. The Council also has a role in facilitating change in the wider community. Examples of this might be in providing charging points for electric vehicles, better integration of public transport to allow safe travel, more walking and cycling networks, or even providing street furniture which facilitates the use of self-driving vehicles.
- 2.9. Reading's location at the heart of the M4 corridor and with the introduction of the Elizabeth line with its strong links to the Capital, coupled with relatively affordable office rents, make it an attractive place for business and provides positive opportunities in terms of economic development.

#### Climatic Changes

- 2.10. The Council has declared a Climate Emergency and has set a policy objective of making Reading a carbon neutral town by 2030. This ambition will require investment in 'green technologies' not only for the Council's own operational sites and housing stock, but to facilitate a step change across the Borough.
- 2.11. This might mean investment in carbon neutral initiatives such as solar energy, ground/air source heat pumps electrification of the Council's in-house vehicle fleet, provision of Electric Vehicle (EV) charging points, enhancements to public transport, improved home insulation, etc.
- 2.12. There may also be a need for investment to mitigate the impacts of climate change such as flood defence or increased planting to either absorb water or provide a cooling effect in highly urban areas.

#### Legislative Changes

2.13. The Government has been concerned about local authorities investing in the property market purely for financial return for some time and have steadily tightened the rules to restrict such actions. In 2020 the Government announced that it would prevent any local authority which has such investments in its Capital Programme from borrowing from the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB). In response to this the Council's Policy Committee at its meeting on 14<sup>th</sup> December 2020 removed this activity from its Capital Programme from 2020/21 onwards.

## 3. Approach to Capital Investments

- 3.1. The key objectives of capital investment are to:
  - Support service delivery in line with the Council's strategic objectives and any statutory requirements;
  - Maintain existing assets to appropriately fulfil their intended function, or maximise their value if they are surplus to requirements and intended for disposal;
  - Facilitate the generation of income from Council Services;
  - Enhance value for money through reducing or avoiding costs;
  - Support regeneration and economic development.
- 3.2. Capital investments will also have regard to the following:
  - Be affordable and financially sustainable;
  - Seek to maximise the use of Government grants to support the Capital Programme;
  - Improve environmental impact wherever possible;
  - Maximise community benefits, working in partnership with other agencies if appropriate;
  - Be forward looking in terms of technological developments and social trends;
  - Seek to minimise the risk profile of the investment within the limitations imposed by meeting other criteria.
- 3.3. Any capital bids that do not meet the above objectives will not be supported.
- 3.4. Existing capital assets that do not contribute towards the above objectives will be considered for disposal. However, the Council will aim to maximise the capital receipt from any such disposal and as a consequence, may continue to hold assets awaiting favourable market conditions. Where this is the case the reason for retaining the asset will be made explicit and an action plan/criteria for disposal agreed.
- 3.5. To ensure that capital investment is conducted in line with this Strategy the Council has put in place governance arrangements set out in more detail in Section 7 of this document.

## 4. Asset Management Planning

- 4.1. The Council has a typical local authority asset portfolio. This consists of operational assets, investment assets and assets held for specific community or regeneration purposes as set out below:
  - Operational Assets supporting core business and service delivery;
  - Investment Assets to provide a financial return to the Council;
  - Community Assets to support specific local community projects;
  - Regeneration Assets enabling strategic place shaping and economic growth.

#### **Operational Assets**

4.2. The Council holds a wide range of operational assets such as land and buildings, highways infrastructure, vehicles and ICT Hardware and Software.

#### Land and Buildings

- 4.3. The purchase, on-going management and disposal of land and buildings is governed by the Strategic Asset Management Plan.
- 4.4. The Council has historical data on its property portfolio to assess building condition and backlog maintenance which is updated through a rolling programme of condition surveys. The Council retains an annual building maintenance programme funded from revenue. This is primarily a responsive repairs and specific statutory compliance budget.
- 4.5. There is a specific budget within the Capital Programme that relates to the maintenance and improvement of corporate and community buildings. In the period 2024/25-2028/29, this budget is £1.757m in 2024/25 and £1.000m per annum thereafter. It is primarily directed at operational buildings (non-Housing) and excludes ring fenced funding. This is in addition to specific projects detailed in the Capital Programme.
- 4.6. Under the Council's Asset Management Plan, any surplus properties are prioritised to be used to maximise revenue or capital resources which can be done in a number of ways on a case by case basis. For example, the Council may choose to seek offers on a freehold, or commercial leasehold basis. Alternatively, surplus land may be suitable to be transferred to the HRA to facilitate the development of affordable housing.
- 4.7. The Council's housing stock, within the Housing Revenue Account (HRA), is subject to a programme of major repairs, planned at £17.582m in 2024/25, in order to ensure the stock is maintained at a suitable standard. The HRA Capital Programme also contains New Build & Acquisition schemes to provide more affordable housing within Reading. The Council also has plans to build new sheltered homes alongside adult day care services to meet the needs of older people and vulnerable adults.

#### Highways Infrastructure

- 4.8. Highways infrastructure is maintained and developed in line with the <u>Highway Asset</u> <u>Management Policy</u> This aims to secure highways assets in a manner which allows the delivery of services to an agreed standard. The Policy is underpinned by the Highways Asset Management Plan and Strategy (HAMPS) which defines the management strategies to be adopted throughout the life cycle of assets in order for them to facilitate the delivery of those service standards.
- 4.9. In support of the HAMPS the highways network is regularly surveyed to determine the condition of assets and thus identify the need to repair or replace those assets. This is summarised and updated in the Annual Status Options Report (ASOR) produced for the highways network.
- 4.10. Delivery of the HAMPS is overseen by the Highways Asset Management Board which meets regularly throughout the year.

#### Vehicles

4.11. Since 2016/17 the Council has adopted a multi-year Vehicle Replacement Programme to ensure the best value in procuring new vehicles and to minimise service risk from vehicle failure. In addition, the Vehicle Replacement Programme allows a clear path to be plotted for the electrification of the fleet in order to contribute towards the Council's ambition of a carbon neutral Reading by 2030. As an early adopter of such technology the Council is likely to incur some additional financial cost in the short term, even if

reducing the environmental cost. These higher costs are reflected in the Capital Programme and associated revenue budgets.

#### ICT Assets

- 4.12. The Council's approach to Information & Communication Technology (ICT) is set out in the <u>ICT Future Operating Model</u> agreed by Policy Committee in June 2020 and its broader Digital Transformation Strategy was agreed by Policy Committee in July 2021.
- 4.13. Both for financial reasons and in order to provide more responsive services in line with customer expectations the Council has adopted a large-scale transformation programme. Much of this transformation is underpinned by new digital infrastructure in order to facilitate new ways of working. The Covid-19 pandemic has both illustrated the importance of this approach and accelerated the pace of change.
- 4.14. ICT needs to be agile, responsive and reliable, but at the same time secure. The rapidly evolving ICT market provides a range of options which will need careful consideration to strike the right balance in meeting these requirements. However, there is a clear trend towards solutions being provided on an as used basis which may mean that the Council will require a smaller asset base in this area of activity. This may require some funding adjustments from capital to revenue to support this changed environment. However, given the capitalisable costs associated with the acquisition and implementation of the solutions satisfying the transformation strategy, the effect of this trend is likely to be a medium-long term rather than short term one.

#### Investment Assets

- 4.15. Investment assets can be broken down into two main categories: financial investment assets e.g. bank deposits, and non-financial investment assets, e.g. property.
- 4.16. Financial investments can fall into three categories, as defined by the Statutory Guidance issued under section 15(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 2003: Specified Investments; Non-Specified Investments and Loans. Specified and Non-Specified investments are only likely to be undertaken as part of managing the Council's cash flows and are therefore covered by the Treasury Management Strategy.
- 4.17. Loans may also be used as part of the cash flow management processes but may also be used in support of specific service objectives. Loans provided by the Council are subject to the Council's Loans Policy. Where loans are provided to support service objectives there are likely to be other social, economic, or environmental issues involved which are likely to impact on the nature of the loan provided. These will need to be carefully considered on a case by case basis but may mean that loans are provided on terms that are not fully commercial, although anti-competitive legislation will always need to be taken into account. Even if not established on a fully commercial basis such loans may yield a financial return to the Council.
- 4.18. Reading Borough Council has provided a number of loans to its wholly owned companies as set out in Table 1 below. The portfolio includes £16.900m of loans made to Homes for Reading Ltd where principal repayments due in September 2022 and March 2023 were not made. Refinancing proposals are currently being reviewed.

	Principal outstanding at 31/03/2024 (£m)	2024/25 Interest due (£m)	Interest rate (%)
Brighter Futures for Children Ltd	5.000	0.091	1.81
Reading Transport Ltd*	6.821	0.361	5.00
Homes for Reading Ltd	7.000	0.263	3.75
Homes for Reading Ltd	16.900	0.000	n/a

## Table 1. Service Investments - Loans to Wholly Owned Companies

\* Values above do not include lease agreements with Reading Transport Ltd.

4.19. The Council also holds an equity stake in some of these wholly owned companies and other bodies which support the service objectives of the Council. These are set out in table 2 below.

	Fair Value as at 31/03/2023 (£m)
Homes for Reading Ltd	5.151
Reading Transport Ltd	3.974
Municipal Bonds Agency	0.000
Reading Community Energy Society Ltd	0.060

#### Table 2. Service Investments - Equity Investments

- 4.20. Non-financial investments are non-financial assets held by the Council partly or primarily to generate a financial return. This might be through an appreciation in the capital value of the asset or by delivering a regular income stream in excess of the costs of owning the asset, or both. Although other opportunities might be considered it is likely that such investments will involve the holding of property assets.
- 4.21. In line with many other councils, Reading Borough Council has historically established a small portfolio of investment properties primarily to generate a regular income stream to off-set significant reductions in funding from Government. The approach to developing this portfolio is governed by the Commercial Investment Strategy. In the light of recent developments, e.g. Covid-19 and the reform of PWLB lending terms, the Commercial Investment Strategy relating to the Council's existing commercial assets is being reviewed.
- 4.22. Traditionally property as an investment class has offered relatively high yield and less volatility than financial investments. However, it is an illiquid asset and as such carries the risk of being unable to respond quickly to changes in market conditions. Recent events in respect of the Covid-19 pandemic have brought this risk to the fore and the impact on the Council's historic property investments is being reviewed as part of the Strategy Review.
- 4.23. Central Government have never been entirely comfortable with local authorities entering into the property market for yield and have steadily increased regulation on these activities. In November 2020 HM Treasury announced changes to the rules in respect of borrowing from the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB). Councils Purchasing

Investment Assets Primarily for Yield (PIAPY) will no longer have access to borrowing from the PWLB, either for those specific assets, or the rest of their Capital Programme.

- 4.24. Therefore, the Council will not purchase further property for investment purposes at this time. This does not preclude investment in regeneration schemes the primary purpose of which is to improve the economic, environmental, or social welfare of the borough. In such cases some income may be derived from the regeneration, but it will not be the primary reason for investment. The review of the existing investment property portfolio will need to determine the best course of action for the future, with interim lease events or asset opportunities being assessed on as case by case basis to retain/increase value and reduce cost/risk.
- 4.25. The commercial investment portfolio held by the Council is set out in Table 3 below.

	Annual Rental Yield 2023/24	Capital Value as at 31 <sup>st</sup> March 2023	Purchase Price including costs	Net Annual Income after Financing Cost
	(£m)	(£m)	(£m)	(£m)
Kennet Wharf, Queens Road	1.295	11.460	21.276	0.820
Adelphi House, Friar Street	0.688	9.380	12.116	0.417
160 - 163 Friar Street Office	0.733	9.455	11.884	0.467
Four 10 TVP	2.173	32.350	39.968	1.280
Acre Business Park	0.249	2.230	N/A	0.249
Albury Close	0.010	0.660	N/A	0.010
16 &18 Bennett Road *	0.052	2.240	N/A	0.052
Total	5.200	67.775	85.244	3.296

## Table 3. Commercial Investment Portfolio

\*18 Bennet Road became operational in 2023/24. As a result, the annual income shown above comes from no 16 only, whilst the capital value as at 31/03/2023 covers both assets as both were classified as commercial properties at the time.

4.26. It is still possible that the Council will make a financial return from its ownership of property or other assets where yield is not the main purpose for holding them. An example of this would be the land on which Oracle Shopping Centre is located; the Council earns a financial return from its ownership of the land however the primary purpose of owning this land was to facilitate re-generation of Reading town centre.

#### **Community and Regeneration Assets**

4.27. Assets held for community or regeneration purposes will tend to be land and property held by the Council for wider community benefit beyond services delivered directly by the Council, but where the main purpose is not to make a return.

## Asset Types Defined by the Prudential Code

4.28. The 2021 Prudential Code requires investments to be analysed between investments for treasury management, service and commercial purposes. These three categories are defined as:

- Investments for treasury management purposes', or treasury management investments, are those investments that arise from the organisation's cash flows or treasury risk management activity and ultimately represent balances that need to be invested until the cash is required for use in the course of business;
- Investments for service purposes', or service investments are held primarily and directly for the delivery of public services (including housing, regeneration and local infrastructure), or in support of joint working with others to deliver such services;
- Investments for commercial purposes', or commercial investments, are taken or held primarily for financial return and are not linked to treasury management activity or directly part of delivering services.
- 4.29. The 2021 Prudential Code states that assets should be clearly separated into these categories as each type of investment has very different objectives, criteria and risk characteristics.
- 4.30. In Reading treasury management investments are addressed in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and therefore not dealt with in any detail in this Capital Strategy, although are recognised as part of the wider Capital Strategy environment.
- 4.31. Reading's investment in commercial property falls withing the remit of the Investment Strategy.
- 4.32. The focus of this Capital Strategy is on service assets as defined by the Prudential Code 2021. However, as the umbrella strategy document it is important that the Capital Strategy recognises the importance of other capital investments and the governance arrangements that apply to them.

## 5. Capital Programme (2024/25 – 2028/29)

- 5.1. The Capital Programme details the Council's capital expenditure which facilitates the delivery of corporate priorities by:
  - Providing investment to improve access to decent housing to meet local needs and help combat homelessness, as well as maintaining existing council dwellings;
  - Supporting delivery of sustainable, local social care services through investment to enable independent and supported living in the local community for both children and adults;
  - Working in partnership with Reading Transport, Network Rail, the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and others in seeking funding and delivering an improved transport network, whilst being mindful of environmental factors;
  - Building schools to meet the future needs of the population and ensuring access to education;
  - Providing investment to deliver low carbon living, reduce pollution and increase recycling;
  - Providing investment in community and leisure provision to meet Reading's needs;
  - Addresses inequality, for example by investing in community safety;
  - Facilitating transformation schemes, ensuring that the Council is fit for the future.

- 5.2. The General Fund and HRA Capital Programmes set out the Council's plan of capital expenditure for future years, including details on the funding of the schemes. The Capital Programme 2024/25 2028/29 is set out as part of the 2024/25 Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2024/25-2026/27 for Member approval. It identifies £333m to improve the infrastructure, asset base and effectiveness of service provision for the residents of Reading. The Programme has a borrowing requirement of £109m after external contributions such as grants, section 106 contributions and Community Infrastructure Levy funding have been applied.
- 5.3. The financing of the Capital Programme is set out in section 6.

			,			
	2023/24	2024/25	2025/26	2026/27	2027/28	2028/29
	Estimate	Estimate	Estimate	Estimate	Estimate	Estimate
	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Community &						
Adult Social						
Care Services	2.206	9.802	6.459	1.522	1.522	1.522
Economic						
Growth &						
Neighbourhood						
Services	39.785	65.171	37.790	6.129	4.232	4.082
Economic						
Growth &						
Neighbourhood						
Services –						
Education						
Schemes	14.020	9.470	4.154	12.610	1.612	1.612
Resources	5.889	1.570	1.641	-	-	-
Corporate	5.385	9.219	2.600	2.600	2.600	2.600
General Fund	67.285	95.232	52.644	22.861	9.966	9.816
HRA	33.564	47.760	54.370	18.088	11.894	10.500
Total	100.849	142.992	107.014	40.949	21.860	20.316

#### Table 4 - Capital Expenditure (2023/24 – 2028/29)

5.4. Highlights of the Capital Programme include:

- £15m on remodelling provision at the Hexagon Theatre following a successful bid to the Levelling Up Fund;
- £12m to relocate the Reading Library to the Civic Offices following a successful bid to the Levelling Up Fund;
- £14m on a Bus Service Improvement Programme;
- £9m on the re-provisioning of social care facilities;
- £21m Investment in the Council's local highways infrastructure (including Bridges) addressing feedback from the residents' survey;
- £14m on South Reading MRT (Phases 5&6);
- £3m on schemes to help reduce Reading's carbon footprint;
- £18m on retro-fitting carbon reduction measures to Council dwellings (HRA);

5.5. As set out above, appropriate due diligence will be undertaken prior to the acquisition of any asset with the extent and depth reflecting the level of additional risk being considered. Due diligence processes and procedures will include:

- Effective scrutiny of proposed acquisitions;
- Identification of the risk to both the capital sums invested and any returns;
- Understanding the extent and nature of any external underwriting of those risks;
- The potential impact on the financial sustainability of the Council if those risks come to fruition;
- Identification of the revenue liabilities/costs of holding the asset;
- Identification of the assets being held for security against debt and any prior charges on those assets; and
- Where necessary independent and expert advice will be sought.

## 6. Financing the Capital Programme

- 6.1. Financing for the Capital Programme comes from the following main sources:
  - External Sources (Government/Non-Governmental/Private Sector)
    - Capital Grants
    - Developer Contributions
      - Section 106 Contribution
      - Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
  - Internal Sources (Council Resources)
    - Capital Receipts
    - Revenue Contributions
  - Prudential Borrowing
    - Borrowing from the Public Work Loans Board (PWLB)
    - Borrowing from Private Sector
- 6.2. **Capital Grants –** Grant funding is one of the largest sources of financing for the Capital Programme. The majority of grants are awarded by Central Government departments but some are received from other external bodies. Grants can be specific to a scheme and have conditions attached (such as time and criteria restrictions), or for general use.

#### 6.3. **Developer Contributions**

- (Section 106) A mechanism which mitigates the impact of the development on the locality and is used to improve existing or build new infrastructure in the local area.
- (CIL) is a levy on new developments the proceeds of which are used to support development in the local area by funding infrastructure or refurbishment of existing provision to alleviate the additional burden a new development places on both local and strategic infrastructure. The Council has agreed a protocol for using CIL as follows:
  - 80% of CIL receipts will be used to support the Capital Programme;
  - 15% will be allocated to areas in which CIL liable development is taking place; and
  - $\circ~$  5% will be allocated to cover administrative costs.
- 6.4. **Capital Receipts** money exceeding £10,000, which is received from the sale of an asset. The Council's general policy is that capital receipts are pooled and used to finance future capital expenditure and investment according to priorities, although they may be used to repay outstanding debt on assets financed from loans, as permitted by regulations.
- 6.5. Although, capital receipts would not usually be spent on revenue, under the current <u>Flexible use of Capital Receipts</u> direction, it is permissible to treat certain costs as

capital expenditure provided these costs are funded from capital receipts received by the Council during the period (2016/17 - 2024/25) specified within the direction. These costs must also meet the definition as laid out in the direction i.e. costs must relate to a scheme to deliver service efficiencies and transformation and have been agreed by Council in advance.

- 6.6. The Council's use of Flexible Capital Receipts has been refreshed as part of the proposed 2024/25 2028/29 MTFS. The MTFS includes an allocation of capital receipts to support transformation and savings delivery (the Delivery Fund) in 2024/25. Regular monitoring and administration of the Delivery Fund takes place through the Council's Corporate Programme governance arrangements.
- 6.7. Once the outcome of the current Local Authority Capital Flexibilities consultation is known, the use of capital receipts across the MTFS period will be reviewed, to determine the best outcome for the Council within the guidance.

	2023/24	2024/25	2025/26	2026/27
	Estimate	Estimate	Estimate	Estimate
	£m	£m	£m	£m
Prior Year Brought Forward	4.389	2.387	3.333	7.501
Receipts in Year:				
Property Disposals	2.788	2.533	4.168	5.418
Other Disposals				
Balance Available to be Applied	7.177	4.920	7.501	12.919
Applied to Fund Delivery Fund	(4.790)	(1.587)	0.000	0.000
Total	2.387	3.333	7.501	12.919

6.8. Table 5 sets out the latest projection on capital receipts:

Table 5 Capital Percents Projection (Conoral Fund)

- 6.9. A schedule of properties anticipated to be available for disposal during the MTFS period is included at Annex A.
- 6.10. **Revenue Contributions** The Council can choose to use revenue, from the approved revenue budget or use of earmarked reserves to fund capital expenditure. Given significant decreases in government revenue funding and continuing pressures on the provision of critical demand led services, this type of funding is anticipated to be minimal relative to other capital funding sources in the short to medium term. Members will continue to weigh the relative priorities of capital and revenue projects in allocating revenue resources.
- 6.11. **Prudential Borrowing** relates to borrowing from either the PWLB or private sector lenders or internal borrowing to fund capital expenditure. This has historically been the main source of financing capital expenditure. The Council is guided by the CIPFA Prudential Code when determining the level of borrowing that is sustainable.
- 6.12. Prudential borrowing to fund capital projects brings with it the need to make a charge to revenue to reflect the cost of borrowing. The basis for this charge, known as Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is set out within the Council's Treasury Management Strategy and MRP Policy Statement.

6.13. A summary of how the Capital Programme is to be financed is detailed below.

General Fund & HRA	2023/24 Estimate £m	2024/25 Estimate £m	2025/26 Estimate £m	2026/27 Estimate £m	2028/29 Estimate £m	2028/29 Estimate £m
Capital						
Expenditure	100.849	142.992	107.014	40.949	21.860	20.316
Capital Receipts						
(GF & HRA)	(5.105)	(2.176)	(1.608)	(0.376)	0.000	0.000
Capital Grants &						
Other						
Contributions	(42.179)	(73.157)	(43.274)	(17.833)	(5.673)	(5.673)
Capital						
Reserves (HRA)	(12.918)	(18.182)	(16.037)	(16.187)	(11.894)	(10.500)
Revenue						
Contributions	(11.257)	(1.258)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Net Borrowing Requirement	29.390	48.219	46.095	6.553	4.293	4.143

 Table 6 - Summary of Capital Programme Funding

## 7. Governance

#### Capital Scheme Approval

- 7.1. During 2022/23, a Capital Programme Board chaired by the Director of Finance was introduced to increase oversight of the Capital Programme and its delivery. Terms of Reference for the Board are included at Annex B.
- 7.2. All schemes included in the approved Capital Programme, including those planned to start in 2024/25 shall remain subject to spending approval in detail by the responsible Committee or Policy Committee or Council, as appropriate, for schemes over £2.5m, with the exception of expenditure on rolling programmes of routine capital expenditure.
- 7.3. Schemes that arise during the year will be added to the agreed Programme once the relevant approvals have been obtained.
- 7.4. The Corporate Management Team considers and recommends service bids for capital resources as part of the annual budget setting process and provides strategic direction as to the development and use of property assets. The Capital bids are then considered and formally approved by Policy Committee and ultimately Council.
- 7.5. The Land, Property & Development Board (LPDB) provides strategic oversight and direction in relation to the Council's property asset management activity. The LPD Steering Group. below the LPDB is an operational group responsible for managing property asset and estate strategy work streams and reporting on the gateway and monitoring position to the LPDB.

#### Performance Monitoring and Evaluation

7.6. Monitoring of the Capital Programme sits alongside the Council's revenue monitoring process with the submission of monthly reports to the Corporate Management Team for review, as well as oversight by the Capital Programme Board as set out in Annex B.

- 7.7. Member oversight is achieved through lead Councillor briefings and reporting to Policy Committee and Audit & Governance Committee.
- 7.8. All schemes within the Programme have a named project manager. It is the responsibility of individual project managers with support from their finance business partner to review and update spend and project delivery forecasts each month.
- 7.9. A gateway process will be developed through the Capital Programme Board to be used for all major capital schemes to allow stakeholders to assess the on-going case for the scheme prior to progress to further stages in the cycle. The gateway review process will allow early identification of areas that may require corrective action and provide validation that a project is ready to progress to the next stage. Stages will be broadly as follows:
  - Initial proposal
  - Feasibility
  - Business Case
  - Project initiation
  - Final design/Procurement
  - Contract Award
  - Project Review
- 7.10. As part of the monitoring process a draft outturn report on the previous financial year results will be submitted to Policy Committee for review.

## Prioritisation & Affordability

- 7.11. Due to competing demands for limited resources, the Council prioritises capital investment based on its overall objectives and a number of different factors including:
  - Essential Health and Safety works;
  - Availability of external funding, full or match funding;
  - Invest to save opportunities;
  - Maintenance of the essential infrastructure of the organisation, such as buildings and IT; and
  - The outcome of feasibility studies.
- 7.12. Capital bids for new or amended schemes are submitted as part of the Council's annual budget review process. Business cases are quality assured by the Capital Programme Board and subsequently Corporate Management Team (CMT) prior to being recommended to Members for inclusion in the Draft Capital Programme.
- 7.13. The overall affordability of the Draft Capital Programme is reported on by the Council's Section 151 officer as part of the Council's budget setting process. The final Capital Programme is agreed by Council when setting its budget in February.
- 7.14. The Council has limited capital resources. Therefore, to help in determining how they are utilised, capital bids are assessed against a prioritisation matrix. This process helps to highlight risks and opportunities on a case by case basis and is used to rank projects against a set of agreed criteria. The matrix will be reviewed and updated by the Capital Programme Board in the coming year to ensure it is fit for purpose.

#### Treasury Management Governance

- 7.15. The Council follows the requirements of The Local Government Act 2003 (the Act) and supporting regulations in managing its Treasury Management activities.
- 7.16. The Audit & Governance Committee is the body responsible for overseeing the governance of the treasury management function within the Council. The Act requires that an annual Treasury Management Strategy be presented to Council for approval. Members also receive quarterly reports, to include an outturn report, in line with the revised Treasury Management Code.
- 7.17. The Council employ Link Group as its treasury management advisors. Other specialist advice is taken on an ad/hoc basis dependant on the nature of the particular project and issue under review. Treasury Management is also subject to regular internal audit.

#### **Review of Governance Arrangements**

7.18. In view of the very high levels of slippage in the delivery of the Capital Programme the Capital Programme Board, led by the Director of Finance, as set out in the attached Action Plan, carried out a review of Governance arrangements with a view to tightening control and improving performance.

#### 8. Risk Management

- 8.1. The Council needs to ensure that it has clear ways of mitigating the risks that are inherent in acquiring, managing and disposing of its assets.
- 8.2. In general, the Council seeks to minimise its exposure to risks that are unwanted and unrewarded. The Council's cash position is managed centrally to ensure that there is enough liquidity in the short and medium term to meet cashflow requirements including the Council's running costs, as well as meeting long-term solvency and funding requirements.
- 8.3. The Council is exposed to a range of broad areas of risks when undertaking capital investment:
  - **Financial risks** relate to risk arising from the investment in the Council's assets, cash flow, market volatility, currency etc.
  - **Macroeconomic risks** relate to risk around the growth or decline of the local economy, interest rates, inflation and to a lesser degree, the wider national and global economy amongst others.
  - **Credit and counterparty risks** relate to risk arising from investments, loans to institutions and individuals and counterparties in business transactions.
  - **Operational risks** relate to operational exposures within the organisation, its counterparties, partners and commercial interests.
  - **Strategic risks** relate to key initiatives undertaken by the Council such as significant purchases, new ventures, commercial interests and other areas of organisational change deemed necessary to help the Council meet its goals.
  - **Reputational risks** relate to risks around the Council's dealings and interests, and the impact of adverse outcomes on the Council's reputation and public perception.
  - Environmental and social risks relate to the environmental and social impact of the Council's strategy and interests.

- **Governance risks** relate to ensuring that prudence and careful consideration sit at the heart of the Council's decision-making, augmented by quality independent advice and appropriate checks and balances that balance oversight and efficiency.
- 8.4. The Council aims to minimise its exposure to risk through a range of mitigation strategies to the extent that it is cost-effective to do so. Specifically, the Council has no appetite for reputational risk, governance risk and currency risk and where possible would avoid these risks.
- 8.5. The Council's appetite for these risks is set out below.

Risk	Appetite
Financial	<b>Moderate appetite</b> for a range of asset classes, property and longer-term investments, subject to careful due diligence and an emphasis on security as well as matching with the Council's required liquidity profile. Low appetite for capital growth oriented investments versus income generating investments. <b>No appetite</b> for currency risk, emerging markets and high volatility investments.
Macroeconomic	<ul> <li>Moderate appetite for exposure to national and global growth.</li> <li>High appetite for exposure to local economic growth.</li> <li>Low appetite for interest rate risk, and inflation risk.</li> </ul>
Credit and Counterparty	<b>High appetite</b> for investment grade or secured credit risk, as well as exposure to highly rated counterparties and financial institutions with strong balance sheets. <b>Low appetite</b> for unsecured non-investment grade debt. All subject to careful due diligence and an assessment of the transaction versus the Council's resources, capacity, funding needs, broader goals and cash flow requirements.
Operational	<b>Low appetite</b> for 'business as usual' operational risks such as pricing errors, errors in administration, IT, cybersecurity etc. No appetite for fraud, regulatory breaches and exceeding risk tolerances.
Strategic	<b>High appetite</b> for strategic initiatives, where there is a direct gain to the Council's revenues; deliver strategic objectives in its corporate plan; or the ability to deliver its statutory duties more effectively and efficiently.
Environmental and Social	<b>No appetite</b> for environmentally negative risks. Low appetite for social risks, especially in the local region and always subject to full due diligence

## Table 6. Council's Risk Appetite

#### Relationship with Other Processes

- 8.6. Risk management is not a stand-alone discipline. In order to maximise risk management benefits and opportunities, it is integrated with existing business processes.
- 8.7. Some of the key business processes with which risk alignment exists are:
  - Capital Strategy

- Corporate Plan
- Medium Term Financial Strategy
- Internal Audit Plan
- Business Planning
- Performance Management
- Treasury Management
- External Audit Review
- 8.8. From a risk management perspective, and in order to ensure the Council's investments are as safe as possible, officers employ a range of due diligence techniques, including: evaluation of tenants by external property advisers; modelling the impact of tenant failure and where necessary securing guarantees.
- 8.9. The Commercial Investment Strategy itself has yet to be reviewed and amended. However, following the decision of Policy Committee to cease further property investments an agent has been appointed to proactively manage and review the current portfolio and to make recommendation on retention or disposal in order to maximise income.
- 8.10. Under the Council's Constitution, risk management is overseen by the Audit and Governance Committee, which reviews the Strategic Risk Register at its meetings. Risk management is an integral aspect of the Council's project methodology, with projects required pre-initiation to identify risks and how they mitigate them. The approach to risk management includes planning and identification, monitoring and review for all risks and projects throughout their lifecycle. Risk will always exist in some measure and cannot be removed in its entirety. Therefore, risks need to be considered both in terms of threats to the Council as well as opportunities.
- 8.11. The Public Accounts Committee supports well-managed risk taking across government, recognising that innovation and opportunities to improve public services requires risk taking, providing that the ability, skills, knowledge and training to manage those risks well exist within the organisation or can be brought to bear. As well as having the requisite skills and knowledge to manage its Capital Programme, the Council can access any shortfall in expertise from partners and external advisers when required.

#### Knowledge and Skills

- 8.12. The Council employs professionally qualified and experienced staff in senior positions with responsibility for making capital expenditure and investment decisions (including treasury management decisions).
- 8.13. The Capital Programme and Treasury Management Strategy are managed by a team of professionally qualified accountants with extensive local government finance experience. They all follow a Continuous Professional Development (CPD) Plan and attend courses on an ongoing basis to keep abreast of new developments in their field. The Council's Section 151 Officer is the officer with overall responsibility for capital and treasury activities.
- 8.14. The Council will ensure that the resources required to manage the Council's assets and regeneration aspirations are available. Where necessary knowledge and skills are not available internally, the Council will use external advisers and consultants that are specialists in their field such as legal, asset management/valuation, treasury management, credit quality assessment, etc.

## 9. Treasury Management

- 9.1. The Council's Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) is approved by Full Council annually as part of the budget setting process.
- 9.2. There are close links between the Capital Strategy and TMSS. Treasury management sets out the borrowing need of the Council, essentially the longer-term cash flow planning, to ensure that the Council can meet its capital spending obligations. This management of longer-term cash may involve arranging long or short-term loans or using longer term cash flow surpluses.
- 9.3. The Council makes provision for the repayment of debt over the life of the asset that the borrowing is funding. The proposed provision for the repayment of debt over the period 2024/25 2026/27 is forecast to be £38m. The Council's Minimum Revenue Provision Policy is published as part of the Council's Treasury Management Strategy.
- 9.4. Treasury Management Prudential Indicators including the Operational Boundary and Authorised Limits relating to external borrowing are approved by Full Council annually as part of the Treasury Management Strategy; are monitored throughout the year by officers and reported bi-annually to Audit & Governance Committee.

## 10. Action Plan

10.1. The Council continues to review its processes to ensure compliance with the Prudential Code, Statutory Guidance and other relevant legislative requirements. To this end an Action Plan (attached as Annex C) is maintained that outlines actions, owners of those actions and timelines for delivery.

## Annex A - Schedule of Properties identified for, or in the process of Disposal

The Capital receipts assumptions set out in Table 5 of the Capital Strategy are planned to be delivered from the sale of the following assets that are considered to be surplus and available to be sold over the period of the MTFS. Some of the assets below would require further approval before sales could be realised.

Site	Further Information
London St Central Club	Vacant community building with mural. Disposal subject to planning permission.
Market Passageway	Right or way reserved within existing building
Yeomanry House	Vacant Grade 2 Listed Building
Cemetery Arch	Vacant Grade 2 Listed Building
Gosbrook Rd Caversham Nursery	Cleared and vacant former nursery school site
Bridge St, Caversham	Vacant land behind advert hoarding
Coley Place	Joint development opportunity
16 Bennet road	Site leased for car storage
Crown St / Southampton St	Vacant cleared site in multiple ownership. Advert hoarding on part of RBC land
De Montford Road (1-9 Hallsmead Court)	Leaseholder purchase
Southside – Island Road	Landfill site – former speedway/greyhound stadium

# Annex B – Capital Programme Board Terms of Reference (ToR)

## **Overall Responsibilities of the board**

- To advise on the Council's Capital Strategy in line with Council's priorities
- To ensure the effective development and delivery of the Capital Programme in line with the Council's Capital Strategy and Council's priorities
- To develop, implement and review the effectiveness of the gateway process for the Capital Programme
- To identify and monitor the resources available to fund the Capital Programme in the most efficient way
- To monitor the progress of the Capital Programme against plan and performance, identifications of risk and issues
- To ensure capital project and programme managers across the Council have the appropriate training, skills and capacity to effectively deliver capital projects
- To develop toolkits for Project and Programme Managers, including the use of post project reviews
- To drive value for money
- To report progress of Capital Programme delivery together with associated risks and mitigations to the Corporate Management Team on a quarterly basis
- To act as a clearing house for any issues/blockers which Boards have not been able to resolve

## **Priority Outcomes from the Board**

- An effective Capital Strategy and Capital Programme that optimise the resources available to deliver the Council's priorities
- To ensure continuous improvement in the development and delivery of the Capital Programme
- To ensure strategic capital investment is planned and delivered in the most efficient and effective way
- To improve the management of capital projects, in line with best practice, ensuring benefits are realised
- To ensure effective bidding for external capital funding
- To enhance cross-service working and partnerships with other organisations on the development and management of capital projects
- To ensure the Capital Strategy and Programme is funded in the most efficient way and fully integrated into the Medium Term Financial Strategy of the Council
- To embed lessons learnt from capital projects undertaken by the Council
- To monitor and realign the Capital Programme to ensure there is accurate forecasting and less pressure on borrowing
- Appropriately addressing and reporting any risk to the programme

### Membership of the Board

Chair	Darren Carter	Director of Finance
Members	Emma Gee (deputy chair)	Deputy Director of Infrastructure, Economy &
		Capital Projects
	Martin Chalmers	Chief Digital & Information Officer
	Jonathan Hopkins	Assistant Director Procurement & Contracts
	Anna Barefoot	Capital and Treasury Lead
	Charan Dhillon	Assistant Director Property & Asset
		Management
	Zoe Hobbs	Portfolio Management Office (PMO)
		Manager
Additional	Assistant Directors/	Attendance is driven by the focus of the
Attendance	Programme & Project	agenda
	Managers/leads	

## Frequency of the Board

• Monthly (more frequently may be required in the lead up to budget setting)

## Inputs of the Board – collaborative environment/ use of materials

- Agenda, actions and decisions agreed
- Highlight reporting for projects and programmes reporting directly into the board
- Financial spend & monitoring against the programme
- Monitoring of resource and capacity management against the programme
- New Business Cases/projects for consideration

## Outputs of the Board

- Actions and decisions agreed
- Communications/messages
- Reports to CMT
- Training and Learning opportunities
- Toolkits
- Prioritised schedule of business cases for review as part of the budget setting process
- Update programmes for approved/rejected activities



## Annex C – Action Plan

1. **Objective** – To develop a Corporate Asset Management Plan that clearly explains how we move from the existing asset base to the assets we will need across the short, medium and long term in order to achieve the Corporate Vision.

There are four areas where work is required:

- Developing our knowledge of the existing asset base
- Identifying what assets we need in the future
- Develop and implement new systems and processes to enable the transition
- Review current capacity within the organisation

#### 2. Developing our knowledge of the existing asset base.

Action	Lead	Progress update	Deadline
Commission work to gain a better understanding of the asset base to include such aspects as: the condition of the assets; their remaining useful life; likely maintenance costs over their remaining useful life; costs of disposal/decommissioning and; costs of replacement if appropriate, etc.	Management	An Asset Strategy has been drafted working with services across the council to review and agree future direction, taking into account need, condition, climate and cost. The next step is to progress through approval process and to then launch from 1 <sup>st</sup> April 2024.	

## 3. Develop and implement new systems and processes to enable the transition

The following areas have been identified where work is required:

• Skills and knowledge

Action	Lead	Progress update	Deadline
Ensure service and finance staff receive appropriate training to carry out their roles. This will include training on the capital investment process itself, project management, capital fundamentals, financial regs and the procurement framework	Procurement & Contracts	A number of staff have now undertaken existing training courses on project management & procurement framework.	

Action	Lead	Progress update	Deadline
		Delays in delivering the new Finance system, which was implemented in December 2023 have meant this action has needed to be pushed back.	

• Availability of good quality and up-to-date information

Action	Lead	Progress update	Deadline
Update the Corporate Asset Management Plan to reflect the identified and agreed future asset needs and the steps required to achieve the desired outcomes.		A Property Asset Strategy is in the process of being developed. Civica Asset Management software has been implemented and this is now being developed and will support the implementation and management of the	Complete
Secure an asset management database	AD Property & Asset	Asset Management Action Plan that has been developed as part of the Asset Strategy. New Asset Management software has	Complete
	Management	been implemented.	

## • Governance

Action	Lead	Progress update	Deadline
Update the Constitution and related documents to provide clarity around the capital investment process (approval monitoring, virements, slippage)		Some progress has been made in respect of the approvals process during 2023-24 however, further work is required in respect of the Financial Regulations within the Constitution.	30/06/2024
Review corporate governance arrangements for Capital across the organisation, including post project review and scheme monitoring arrangements.		The Capital Programme Board was established in December 2022. It will now need to develop a prioritised programme of work. This will include:	31/07/2024

Action	Lead	Progress update	Deadline
Review and update the Commercial Investment Strategy in the light of new restrictions on borrowing from the PWLB		<ul> <li>Review of the prioritisation of limited capital resources including the development of a new prioritisation matrix.</li> <li>Review of the monitoring arrangements for the delivery of capital projects</li> <li>Review of the governance framework for capital management.</li> <li>Review of this Capital Strategy</li> <li>Monitoring of progress of this Action Plan.</li> <li>Develop and implement new Capital Gateway process.</li> <li>The Commercial Investment Strategy itself has yet to be reviewed and amended. However, following the decision of Policy Committee to cease further property investments. Avison Young has been appointed to review the current portfolio and undertake a financial assessment to make recommendation on retention or disposal in order to maximise income and ensure the Council makes strategic decisions regarding this portfolio that support the Financial Strategy.</li> </ul>	31/12/2024

## 4. On-going work

- **a.** In addition, there are areas where on-going work will also be required. This includes:
  - i. Implementation of a rolling-programme of asset surveys across the entire asset base.
  - ii. On-going training to ensure new staff have the skills and knowledge to carry out their roles.
  - iii. Regular review of service plans, corporate asset management plan etc to ensure any changes are captured.